© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

# Schizophrenia in Society

# An Epidemiological Perspective

Preben Bo Mortensen

Department of Psychiatric Demography, Institute for Basic Psychiatric Research, Psychiatric Hospital in Aarhus, Risskov, Denmark

### Contents

Summary
1. The Occurrence of Schizophrenia
2. Decreasing Incidence of Schizophrenia?
3. Risk Factors for Schizophrenia
3.1 Genetics
3.2 Sex
3.3 Environmental Risk Factors
3.3.1 Urban Birth or Urban Upbringing
3.3.2 Season of Birth
3.3.3 Influenza and Schizophrenia
3.3.4 Obstetric Complications
3.3.5 Social Class
4. Economic Aspects
5. Suicide and Other Causes of Death
6. Conclusions

# Summary

Schizophrenia is a disorder of major public health concern both in terms of occurrence and cost. It affects approximately 1% of the population. Although the causes and pathogenesis of schizophrenia are not known in any detail, there is strong evidence that both genetic and 'environmental' risk factors are important in the aetiology of this disease. Environmental risk factors include: urban birth, urban upbringing, seasonal birth, influenza, infections during pregnancy, obstetric complications and higher risk in lower social classes. The condition is often chronic even though progress has been made both in psychopharmacological treatment and in psychosocial interventions. The patient's ability to work is often impaired, and schizophrenia is associated with increased mortality both from suicide and natural causes of death.

Schizophrenia is probably one of the most extensively studied disorders within the field of psychiatric epidemiology. The literature on schizophrenia epidemiology, i.e. the occurrence of and risk factors for schizophrenia has already been the subject of several reviews including Jablensky and

Eaton,<sup>[1]</sup> and Eaton.<sup>[2]</sup> The aim of this paper is to give a general overview of current consensus and controversies in schizophrenia epidemiology, including some key references to papers and reviews that should allow the reader to find relevant literature within their particular field of interest.

78 Mortensen

# 1. The Occurrence of Schizophrenia

There are a number of studies on both prevalence and incidence of schizophrenia. This literature has been described extensively in the reviews mentioned above. [1,2] Generally, prevalence data are more useful for estimating the burden of illness in society, including cost of illness. However, incidence rates and, more specifically, the distribution of incidence rates relating to age, sex and other factors, is more informative for the formulation of aetiological hypotheses.

Prevalence rates have been highly variable<sup>[3]</sup> with at least 10-fold differences across populations. However, even when considering these large regional variations in prevalence, it would not seem unreasonable to expect an average prevalence between 3 and 5 per 1000 people in most populations. The incidence, i.e. the number of new cases of the disease in a defined base population within a given time, is only known from very few general population studies, e.g. the Lundby Study.<sup>[4]</sup> Also, due to the difficulties which are discussed later in this section, it will often be difficult to generalise the results from these studies.

Studies are often based on figures from first hospitalisations or first contacts to a treatment setting. In most studies, crude rates per 1000 per year will vary between 0.15 and 0.30. Finally, other than prevalence and incidence, a third measurement of disease occurrence, lifetime risk, is an estimate of the risk for any individual in a population to experience even one schizophrenic episode during their expected lifetime, is assumed to be approximately 1%.<sup>[5]</sup>

Studies of the occurrence of schizophrenia face a number of problems. First, the initial onset of schizophrenia in any given population will be a relatively uncommon event making it necessary to study large populations to get precise rate estimates. Secondly, it requires skill and training to conduct the necessary interviews to establish the diagnosis of schizophrenia. This, in connection with the need to study large populations, may make it prohibitively difficult to conduct general population incidence studies. Studies based on treatment

settings will be biased by the selection factors into those treatment settings. Finally, even relatively large studies are often too small to make exact adjustments for basic risk factors such as age and sex, making results difficult to compare.

The literature supports the idea that schizophrenia is occurring with relatively constant frequency around the world. However, even in the only study directly comparing rates in various cultures there was about a 2-fold difference from the highest to the lowest lifetime expectancy. [6] These differences were not statistically significant, but may have been influenced by sample size and other methodological problems. *In summary*, incidence studies or studies of the risk of developing schizophrenia are difficult to conduct, and the literature does not exclude the possibility of considerable variation in disease risk within different populations.

# 2. Decreasing Incidence of Schizophrenia?

A large number of studies during the 1980s and 1990s, based mainly on hospitalisation data, have suggested that the incidence of schizophrenia may be decreasing.<sup>[7,8]</sup> This literature has been reviewed recently by Munk-Jørgensen.[9] This literature suggests that a real decrease may have taken place during the 1970s and 1980s primarily in England, Wales, Scotland and Denmark, as well as in New Zealand. However, a number of methodological problems such as decreasing availability of hospital beds, changing diagnostic habits and other factors, may have contributed to the decrease in first hospitalisation rates for schizophrenia. Therefore, the decrease in these rates or first contacts does not necessarily reflect a real decrease in the occurrence of the disorder in the general population.

# 3. Risk Factors for Schizophrenia

#### 3.1 Genetics

A family history of schizophrenia is by far the most firmly established risk factor for this disorder. Gottesman<sup>[5]</sup> generated average lifetime risks for developing schizophrenia according to family re-

Schizophrenia in Society 79

lation to schizophrenic patients on the basis of about 40 western European studies conducted from 1920 to 1987. The risk of developing schizophrenia in monozygotic twins to schizophrenic patients (probandwise concordance rate) is approximately 48% whereas there was a 17% risk in dizygotic twins. Children of schizophrenic parents have about 13% morbid risk and siblings to schizophrenic patients have 9% risk.<sup>[5]</sup>

These data, together with the results of adoption studies, [10] make it clear that genetic factors, not only shared experiences or other environmental factors, are important in the causation of schizophrenia. Further evidence came from studies of the offspring of discordant monozygotic twins [11] which showed almost equal risk in the offspring of the schizophrenic and the non-schizophrenic twins.

Interestingly, twinning itself may be a risk factor for schizophrenia. Kläning et al.<sup>[12]</sup> have reported an increased risk in twins compared with single-born in a population-based study. The impact of this finding on the interpretation of twin studies is not clear at present.

Although much effort has gone into the field of molecular genetics of schizophrenia within the past decade, there are no final breakthroughs in this field. However, there is significant evidence for loci conferring liability to schizophrenia in chromosomes 6p, 8p and 22q, with partial replication, and suggested evidence for loci on the short arm of chromosomes 3, 9 and 20.<sup>[13]</sup> Molecular genetics continue to be one of the most rapidly developing fields in the area of schizophrenia aetiology.

#### 3.2 Sex

Lifetime risk for schizophrenia is generally assumed to be the same in males and females, although this assumption is subject to the same uncertainties discussed in connection with general studies of the occurrence of schizophrenia. There is general agreement that onset is later in female than in male patients. In males, onset is generally in the early to mid-twenties whereas the majority of studies find that the mean age of onset in females is 4 to 5 years later.<sup>[14]</sup>

Some studies have indicated that male patients have poorer outcome than female patients, but this may be explained by the earlier age of onset in males as early age of onset in itself is a predictor of poor outcome. [15,16] Also, in the recent study by Kendler and Walsh, [17] no differences in a 15-year outcome were found between male and female patients. The authors suggested that differences in how males and females used services and sought care may explain sex effects in non–epidemiologically-based follow-up cohorts.

#### 3.3 Environmental Risk Factors

As suggested by the concordance rates given above, the fact that only approximately half instead of all monozygotic twins to patients with schizophrenia themselves develop schizophrenia, indicate that nongenetic factors are important in the aetiology of this disease, as monozygotic twins are genetically identical. Most of these possible risk factors are believed to act through mechanisms affecting the development of the brain during embryonic and fetal life. A number of the relevant theories regarding neurodevelopmental risk factors for schizophrenia have been summarised in a recent book by Waddington and Buckley.<sup>[18]</sup> These environmental risk factors will be reviewed briefly in sections 3.3.1 to 3.3.5.

#### 3.3.1 Urban Birth or Urban Upbringing

It has been consistently demonstrated that the prevalence of schizophrenia is higher in urban than in rural areas. [19] Selective migration has been suggested as the cause of this finding, but urban birth, not only urban residence at the time of onset, has been found to be a risk factor for schizophrenia. [20]

Lewis et al.<sup>[21]</sup> reported an increased risk associated with urban upbringing, even after adjusting for family history of mental disorders as well as substance abuse. The increased risk associated with urban birth or upbringing is thus a fairly robust finding, but the cause of this is unknown.

#### 3.3.2 Season of Birth

An excess of individuals born during winter and spring months among schizophrenic patients is

80 Mortensen

among the most frequently replicated findings in the schizophrenia epidemiology. [22-24] Lewis [23] has proposed this finding to be largely a methodological artifact, but this is unlikely. Although frequently replicated, the causes of this finding are still not known. The months of birth most frequently reported to be associated with increased schizophrenia risk are December through March in the majority of studies conducted in the northern hemisphere. The few studies from the southern hemisphere have generally been smaller, and results less consistent.

In a large study, McGrath et al.<sup>[25]</sup> compared rates of schizophrenia in individuals born in the southern hemisphere to those born in the northern hemisphere who had later immigrated to Australia. They found an excess both in those born in the northern hemisphere in March to April, as well as in those born in the southern hemisphere winter (July to September).

This winter birth excess is possibly not specific to schizophrenia as a similar pattern has been described in bipolar disorder. Possible explanations for this finding, apart from methodological problems, include a different procreational pattern over the year in individuals predisposed to schizophrenia, increased exposure to environmental risk factors, such as maternal influenza and obstetric complications (see section 3.3.4), as well as maternal dietary insufficiency.

The possible role of dietary insufficiency during pregnancy as a risk factor for adult schizophrenia is largely based on one study by Susser and Lin.<sup>[27]</sup> The association has also been related to seasonal variation in stillbirths.<sup>[26,28]</sup> Variations in temperature have been suggested,<sup>[29]</sup> but could not be replicated in a second analysis including data from Scotland, England and Denmark.<sup>[30]</sup> It has been suggested that the winter birth excess in schizophrenia is confined to urban born patients with the strongest relation in female patients, but this finding needs further replication. Also, it is still a subject of controversy whether the season of birth differs between patients at low and high genetic risk for schizophrenia (for review see Cotter et al.<sup>[24]</sup>).

In summary, the relationship between season of birth and schizophrenia risk seems to be firmly established but the causes of this pattern are still unknown. Even though the winter/spring excess is modest (5 to 15%) and has no predictive value for any individual, it is still a finding that must be confronted by any aetiological theory for schizophrenia

#### 3.3.3 Influenza and Schizophrenia

Since the study by Mednick et al.<sup>[31]</sup> in Helsinki relating adult schizophrenia to the prenatal exposure of an influenza epidemic, a number of studies have replicated the relationship between population rates of influenza especially during the second trimester of pregnancy and later schizophrenia.<sup>[30,32-34]</sup> Wright and Murray<sup>[35]</sup> have hypothesised that maternal antibodies induced by influenza infection may cause fetal brain damage by crossreacting with brain antigens. Thus, a proportion of schizophrenia may represent an autoimmune disease by proxy because antibodies of maternal origin are elicited by the influenza virus in immunogenetically predisposed women.

Most studies demonstrating a relationship between influenza during pregnancy and adult schizophrenia have not been based on data regarding infection in the individual mothers of later schizophrenic patients. These have been ecological studies relating population rates of schizophrenia to population rates in the cohorts in mid-trimester of pregnancy during high exposure periods. In the few positive studies relating individual data and infection during pregnancy, [36,37] recall bias cannot be excluded.

To date, direct studies of children to women exposed to influenza have been negative. [38] However, these studies are generally too small to be taken as evidence against an association between schizophrenia and prenatal influenza infection.

Some studies have found the effect of influenza on schizophrenia risk to be confined to females, [39] but the possible sex differences in schizophrenia risk and influenza remain unresolved.

At present, influenza is probably one of the most plausible environmental risk factors in schizophre-

Schizophrenia in Society 81

nia epidemiology. It should be noted that our knowledge is not sufficient to justify any particular warnings or risk estimates for women who are exposed to influenza during mid-trimester pregnancy. Also, other infections have been suggested as possible risk factors for schizophrenia. These include various infections during fetal life or early childhood transmitted through cats or other household pets,<sup>[40]</sup> or CNS infections, e.g. meningitis during early childhood.<sup>[41]</sup>

#### 3.3.4 Obstetric Complications

Obstetric complications have been associated with increased schizophrenia in a large number of studies. [42-45] A recent meta-analysis of the existing studies [46] concluded that children exposed to obstetric complications were twice as likely to develop schizophrenia, but also that the observed association could be inflated by both selection and publication bias. Furthermore, it has been suggested that the association could be ascribed to an increased occurrence of obstetric complications among females with a predisposition towards mental disorders, i.e. not a causal effect. [47] This hypothesis, however, has not been substantiated by data, and the nature of this predisposition has not been specified.

The specific nature of complications that particularly increase schizophrenia risk has not been identified with any certainty. One specific factor, rhesus incompatibility, has been suggested, [48] but this would only apply to a minority of cases. *In summary*, the literature suggests that a causal role of obstetric complications in schizophrenia is very likely but more research is needed to clarify the specific nature of this relationship.

#### 3.3.5 Social Class

It has been an early observation that the prevalence of severe mental disorders including schizophrenia was higher in those of lower social class compared with high social class. [49,50] These findings are largely accepted, but the explanation for this is the subject of a continuing debate.

One explanation is a social causation theory which hypothesises that factors associated with lower social class status are implicated causally in the development of serious mental illness.<sup>[51]</sup> The social selection drift perspective hypothesises that the association between social class and serious mental illness is a result of the illness impairing an individual's social class attainment and/or an individual's drifting down in social class status after the onset of the illness.<sup>[51]</sup> Many researchers favour the social drift hypothesis<sup>[52]</sup> whereas others cannot find the evidence sufficient to exclude a causal effect of social class.<sup>[51]</sup>

There would not seem to be any logical reason why the two explanations should mutually exclude each other. Also, it would seem very plausible that other risk factors for schizophrenia, e.g. maternal infections during pregnancy or obstetric complications, are associated with low social class. In other words, associations between the current social class of individuals and their risk for developing schizophrenia would not necessarily mean that their current social environment is responsible. However, it might suggest that it is closely correlated to living conditions during fetal life or early childhood related to increased exposure to the risk factors

## 4. Economic Aspects

Although schizophrenia only constitutes a minority of the total psychiatric morbidity in general populations, patients with schizophrenia have a relatively high utilisation of hospital beds and other services in psychiatry. Munk-Jørgensen and Mortensen<sup>[8]</sup> estimated that after the initial first 6 months following first admission with schizophrenia, patients will, on average, spend approximately 10% of their remaining lifetime as psychiatric inpatients.

In a recent report for the Danish Medical Research Council, [53] utilisation of hospital beds for different diagnoses was compared. Schizophrenia was the highest ranking single diagnosis with approximately 500 000 hospital days compared with the second highest consuming disorder, cerebrovascular disorder (387 000 bed days), and the third most important, fracture of the femur (277 000 bed

82 Mortensen

days). Schizophrenia, therefore, constituted about a quarter of all psychiatric hospital bed days.

In the US, Wyatt et al.<sup>[54]</sup> estimated the annual cost for schizophrenia in 1991 to total \$US65 billion based on the estimate of about 3 million Americans between 18 and 65 years old with schizophrenia. The costs were distributed as \$US18.6 billion direct costs and \$US46.5 billion indirect costs. The majority of the direct costs were costs of inpatient and outpatient care and medication, whereas the majority of the indirect costs were the loss of productivity due to suicide, lost productivity in the family of the patient and lost compensation to the families.

It would seem clear from these figures that schizophrenia is a disease of major public health importance. This is still a fact even if a large minority of patients (approximately 30 to 40%) improve significantly, as shown in a recent meta-analysis of the outcome literature.<sup>[55]</sup> Also, early pharmacological and psychosocial interventions may further improve course and outcome, as recently suggested.<sup>[56]</sup>

In summary, apart from what this disorder imposes on the patient and his or her family, it is a disorder associated with costs comparable to disease groups such as cardiovascular disorders or cancer where the public health importance is more widely acknowledged. This is often not realised when allocating funds for treatment and research.

#### 5. Suicide and Other Causes of Death

Some are not aware that mental disorders including schizophrenia can be fatal and are often associated with a very high mortality. This excess mortality is dominated by suicide. [57] Generally, 10 to 15% of patients with schizophrenia are assumed to commit suicide, [58] but even this figure may be too low. Based on a sample of first-time hospital admitted schizophrenic patients, we estimated 'life-time risk for suicide' to be about 20 to 25%. [59] A number of risk factors for suicide in schizophrenia have been identified, [58] including young age, male sex, social isolation and depression.

It has been of some concern that deinstitutionalisation may have been accompanied by an increase in suicide risk among schizophrenic patients. In our study, [60] the risk within the first year after first schizophrenia hospitalisation had increased by 50% during in the same period in which the number of hospital beds had been reduced by 50%. A recent analysis of the same data [61] confirmed that this temporal trend could be explained by changes from longer towards shorter admission with more frequent readmissions, or so-called 'revolving door' patients.

Mortality is also increased for most natural causes of death. One notable exception in several studies has been cancer. Some reports of this can be explained through methodological problems but some large studies have found significant reductions in cancer risk in schizophrenic patients. [62,63] It is possible that this can be partly explained by an anti-neoplastic effect of some neuroleptics, [63,64] but this still needs further empirical validation.

### 6. Conclusions

It has only been possible within the limits of this paper to give a somewhat brief outline of the epidemiology of schizophrenia. It should hopefully be clear from this review that schizophrenia is a disorder of major public health concern, of both genetic and environmental origin. It is a disorder where much research still remains before we get closer to its aetiology and possible prevention.

Progress is being made with increasing speed. Perhaps the most promising perspective is the advances made within molecular genetics. This is not only because of the direct implications of findings from these studies but in terms of our understanding of the pathophysiology and possible treatment of the disorder. More direct measurement of the genetic risk factors for this disorder is exactly the information the epidemiologist needs in order to design more efficient studies of the environmental risk factors.

Future aetiological studies in schizophrenia must include both genetic and environmental risk factors, as is the case in the study of other mental disorders. [65] This would also help to change the current usefulness of epidemiological evidence

which presently is something primarily of interest for research and planning purposes. This epidemiological evidence could be applied in a situation where knowledge about risk factors may be of more direct value in the counselling and management of the individual patients and in the primary prevention of schizophrenia.

# **Acknowledgements**

Dr Mortensen's work was supported, in part, by the Theodore and Vada Stanley Foundation.

#### References

- Jablensky A, Eaton WW. Schizophrenia. In: Jablensky A, editor. Baillière's Clinical Psychiatry. International practice and research. London: Baillière Tindall, 1995: 283-306
- Eaton W. Epidemiology of schizophrenia. Epidemiol Rev 1985;
  105-27
- Torrey EF. Prevalence studies in schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 1987; 150: 598-608
- Hagnell O. Repeated incidence and prevalence studies of mental disorders in a total population followed during 25 years. The Lundby Study, Sweden. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 1989; 348: 61-77
- Gottesman II. Schizophrenia genesis. The origins of madness. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company, 1991
- Jablensky A, Sartorius N, Ernberg G. Schizophrenia: manifestations, incidence and course in different cultures. World Health Organization Ten-Country study. Psychol Med 1992; Suppl. 20: 1-97
- 7. Der G, Gupta S, Murray R. Is schizophrenia disappearing? Lancet 1990; 335: 513-6
- Munk-Jørgensen P, Mortensen PB. Incidence and other aspects of the epidemiology of schizophrenia in Denmark, 1971-87. Br J Psychiatry 1992; 161: 489-95
- Munk-Jørgensen P. Decreasing rates of incident schizophrenia cases in psychiatric service: a review of the literature. Eur Psychiatry 1995; 10: 129-41
- Kety SS. Schizophrenic illness in the families of schizophrenic adoptees: findings from the Danish national sample. Schizophr Bull 1988; 14: 217-22
- Gottesman I, Bertelsen A. Confirming unexpressed genotypes for schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1989; 46: 867-72
- Kläning U, Mortensen PB, Kyvik KO. Increased occurrence of schizophrenia and other psychiatric illnesses among twins. Br J Psychiatry 1996; 168 (6): 688-92
- Cloninger CR. Multilocus genetics of schizophrenia. Curr Opin Psychiatry 1997; 10: 5-10
- Riecher A, Maurer K, Löffler W, et al. Gender differences in age at onset and course of schizophrenia disorders. In: Häfner H, Gattaz W, editors. Search for the causes of schizophrenia. II. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1991: 14-33
- Fenton WS. Course and outcome in schizophrenia. Curr Opin Psychiatry 1997; 10: 40-4
- Mortensen PB, Eaton WW. Predictors for readmission risk in schizophrenia. Psychol Med 1994; 24: 223-32
- Kendler KS, Walsh D. Gender and schizophrenia. Results of an epidemiologically-based family study. Br J Psychiatry 1995; 167: 184-92

- Waddington JL, Buckley PF. The neurodevelopmental basis of schizophrenia. New York: Springer, 1996
- Torrey EF, Bowler A. Geographical distribution of insanity in America: evidence for an urban factor. Schizophr Bull 1990; 16 (4): 591-604
- Takei N, Sham PC, O'Callaghan E, et al. Schizophrenia: increased risk associated with winter and city birth a case-control study in 12 regions within England and Wales. J Epidemiol Community Health 1995; 49 (1): 106-7
- 21. Lewis G, David A, Andreasson S, et al. Schizophrenia and city life [see comments]. Lancet 1992; 340 (8812): 137-40
- Bradbury T, Miller G. Season of birth in schizophrenia: a review of evidence, methodology and etiology. Psychol Bull 1985; 98: 569-84
- Lewis M. Age incidence and schizophrenia. Part I. The season of birth controversy. Schizophr Bull 1989; 15: 59-73
- Cotter D, Larkin C, Waddington JL, et al. Season of birth in schizophrenia. Clue or cul-del-sac? In: Waddington JL, Buckley PF, editors. The neurodevelopmental basis of schizophrenia. New York: Springer, 1996: 17-30
- McGrath J, Welham J, Pemberton M. Month of birth, hemisphere of birth and schizophrenia [see comments]. Br J Psychiatry 1995; 167 (6): 783-5
- Torrey EF, Rawlings R, Ennis JM, et al. Birth seasonality in bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder and stillbirths. Schizophr Res 1996; 21: 141-9
- Susser E, Lin S. Schizophrenia after prenatal exposure to the Dutch Hunger Winter of 1944-1945. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1992; 49: 983-8
- 28. Videbech T, Weeke A, Dupont A. Endogenous psychoses and season of birth. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1974; 50: 202-18
- Kendell R, Adams W. Unexplained fluctuations in the risk for schizophrenia by month and year of birth. Br J Psychiatry 1991; 158: 758-63
- 30. Adams W, Kendell RE, Hare EH, et al. Epidemiological evidence that maternal influenza contributes to the aetiology of schizophrenia. An analysis of Scottish, English, and Danish data. Br J Psychiatry 1993; 163: 522-34
- Mednick SA, Machon RA, Huttunen MD, et al. Adult schizophrenia following prenatal exposure to an influenza epidemic. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1988; 45: 189-92
- Barr CE, Mednick SA, Munk-Jørgensen P. Exposure to influenza epidemics during gestation and adult schizophrenia. A 40-year study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1990; 47 (9): 869-74
- Takei N, Mortensen PB, Kläning U, et al. Relationship between in utero exposure to influenza epidemics and risk of schizophrenia in Denmark. Biol Psychiatry 1996; 40: 817-24
- 34. O'Callaghan E, Gibson T, Colohan H, et al. Season of birth in schizophrenia. Evidence for confinement of an excess of winter births to patients without a family history of mental disorder. Br J Psychiatry 1991; 158: 764-9
- 35. Wright P, Murray RM. Prenatal influenza, immunogenes and schizophrenia: a hypothesis and some recent findings. In: Waddington JL, Buckley PF, editors. The neurodevelopmental basis of schizophrenia. New York: Springer; 1996: 43-60
- Stober G, Franzek E, Beckman J. The role of maternal infectious diseases during pregnancy in the etiology of schizophrenia in off-spring. Eur Psychiatry 1992; 7: 147-52
- Wright P, Sham PC, Gilvarry CM, et al. Autoimmune diseases in the pedigrees of schizophrenic and control subjects. Schizophr Res 1996; 20 (3): 261-7
- Crow TJ, Done DJ. Prenatal exposure to influenza does not cause schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 1992; 161: 390-3

- Takei N, Sham P, O'Callaghan E, et al. Prenatal influenza and schizophrenia: is the effect confined to females? Am J Psychiatry 1994; 151: 117-9
- Torrey ÉF, Yolken RH. Could schizophrenia be a viral zoonosis transmitted from house cats? [see comments]. Schizophr Bull 1995; 21 (2): 167-71
- 41. Jones P, Rantakallio P, Isohanni M. Early causal heterogeneity but developmental homogeneity before schizophrenia. A prospective study of early life in 15,000 people from two general population birth cohorts. Schizophr Res 1997; 24: 252
- 42. McNeil TF. Perinatal risk factors and schizophrenia: selective review and methodological concerns. Epidemiol Rev 1995; 17: 107-12
- Lewis SW, Owen MJ, Murray RM. Obstetric complications and schizophrenia: methodology and mechanisms. In: Schulz SC, Tamminga CA, editors. Schizophrenia: scientific progress. New York: Oxford University Press, 1989: 56-68
- Buka S, Tsuang M, Lipsitt L. Pregnancy/delivery complications and psychiatric diagnosis. A prospective study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993; 50: 151-6
- 45. Kendell RE, Juszczak E, Cole K. Obstetric complications and schizophrenia: a case control study based on standardised obstetric records. Br J Psychiatry 1996; 168: 556-61
- Geddes JR, Lawrie SM. Obstetric complications and schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 1995; 167: 786-93
- Sacker A, Done DJ, Crow TJ, et al. Antecedents of schizophrenia and affective illness. Obstetric complications. Br J Psychiatry 1995; 166: 734-41
- 48. Hollister JM, Laing P, Mednick SA. Rhesus incompatibility as a risk factor for schizophrenia in male adults. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996; 53 (1): 19-24
- Faris REI, Dunham HW. Mental disorders in urban areas: an ecological study of schizophrenia and other psychoses. Chicago (IL): Chicago University Press, 1939
- Hollingshead AB, Redlich FC. Social class and mental illness. New York: Wiley, 1958
- Fox JW. Social class, mental illness, and social mobility: the social selection-drift hypothesis for serious mental illness. J Health Soc Behav 1990; 3: 344-53
- 52. Eaton WW, Day R, Kramer M. The use of epidemiology for risk factor research in schizophrenia: an overview and methodologic critique. In: Tsuang M, Simpson JC, editors. Handbook of schizophrenia. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1988: 169-204
- NASTRA. Forslag til en national strategi for sundhedsvidenskab [suggestions to a national strategy in health sciences]. Copenhagen: Forskningsministeriet, 1995

- Wyatt RJ, Henter I, Leary MC, et al. An economic evaluation of schizophrenia – 1991. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 1995; 30: 196-205
- 55. Hegarty JD, Baldessarini RJ, Tohen M, et al. One hundred years of schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of the outcome literature. Am J Psychiatry 1994; 151 (10): 1409-16
- US Department of Health and Human Services. Early detection and intervention in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 1996; 22 (2): 191-404
- Allebeck P. Schizophrenia: a life-shortening disease. Schizophr Bull 1989; 15: 81-9
- Caldwell CB, Gottesman II. Schizophrenics kill themselves too: a review of risk factors for suicide. Schizophr Bull 1990; 16: 571-89
- Mortensen PB. Suicide among schizophrenic patients: occurrence and risk factors. Clin Neuropharmacol 1995; 18: 1-8
- Mortensen PB, Juel K. Mortality and causes of death in first admitted schizophrenic patients. Br J Psychiatry 1993; 163: 183-9
- Rossau CD, Mortensen PB. Risk factors for suicide in schizophrenic patients. A nested case-control study. Br J Psychiatry. In press
- 62. Dupont A, Jensen OM, Strömgren E, et al. Incidence of cancer in patients diagnosed as schizophrenic in Denmark. In: ten Horn GHMM, Giel R, Gulbinat WH, et al., editors. Psychiatric case registers in public health. A worldwide inventory 1960-1985. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1986: 229-39
- Mortensen PB. The occurrence of cancer in first admitted schizophrenic patients. Schizophr Res 1994; 12: 185-94
- Mortensen PB. Neuroleptic medication and reduced risk of prostate cancer in schizophrenic patients. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1992; 85: 390-3
- Kendler KS. Genetic epidemiology in psychiatry. Taking both genes and environment seriously. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1995; 52 (11): 895-9

**About the Author:** Preben Bo Mortensen is a senior scientist at the Department of Psychiatric Demography where he conducts studies in psychiatric epidemiology, especially within the fields of schizophrenia and affective disorders as well as general studies of the epidemiology of suicide.

Correspondence and reprints: Dr *Preben Bo Mortensen*, Department of Psychiatric Demography, Institute for Basic Psychiatric Research, Psychiatric Hospital in Aarhus, Skovagervej 2, 8240 Risskov, Denmark.